1986

LDS Hospital v. Industrial Commission of Utah, Second Injury Fund and Anna Webster: Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

1. Was the determination by the Industrial Commission that the repondent, Anna Webster, was partially dependent within the limits of reasonableness or rationality when taking into account the clear fact that without dependency benefits the respondent has \$85,504.72 in savings and has sufficient funds to meet her stated expenses and support herself in the style to which she is accustomed?

2. Did the Industrial Commission commit reversible error when it failed to set out any standard or guideline by which to determine the dependency of survivors of workers killed as a result of industrial accidents after the termination of the 312 week initial dependency period?

3. Did the Industrial Commi'ssion commit reversible error when it refused to require the respondent to invade the corpus of her \$85,504.72 in savings, if necessary, and when it considered only the interest on this amount and failed to consider the amortization of her mortgage in September of 1985 in determining her dependency?

4. Did the Industrial Commission commit reversible error when it failed to hold that an annual clothing expense of \$2,400 was excessive?

5. Did the Industrial Commission commit reversible error when it required the appellant to pay amounts beyond 312 weeks as set out in Utah Code Annotated § 35-1-68 and refused to

order the Second Injury Fund to pay dependency benefits after the 312 week period as provided in Utah Code Annotated § 35-1-70.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On July 20, 1979, Mr. Gene Webster, husband of the respondent, Anna Webster, and an employee of LDS Hospital was involved in a motorcycle accident which occurred while he was in the course of his employment. Temporary total disability benefits commenced in August 1979 (Record at 139)(Record hereinafter referred to as "R."). On February 23, 1981, Mr. Webster's status was changed to permanent total disability and benefits were paid accordingly (R.10). On December 15, 1982, Mr. Webster died due to complications arising out of his industrial accident (R. 16, 139). After Mr. Webster's death, Mrs. Webster received dependency benefits for the equivalent of 312 weeks from the date of the injury as required in Utah Code Annotated (hereinafter U.C.A.) § 35-1-67 and § 35-1-68 (Contained in Addendum) as ordered by the Industrial Commission (R. 14, 139). The record shows that between 1979 and the date benefits ended in 1985, weekly compensation paid to Mr. Webster and to his wife after his death, amounted to \$55,848.00 (R. 14), not including medical expenses in the amount of at least \$78,166.16 (R. 14). On the date of termination of benefits Mrs. Webster was receiving \$179.00 per week or \$716.00 per month (R. 10, 46).

Upon completion of the equivalent of 312 weeks of benefits, payments to Mrs. Webster were terminated in 1985 (R.10,

31). Mrs. Webster requested continued benefits (R. 21-23, 29) from the Second Injury Fund which request was refused, notwithstanding the language in U.C.A. § 35-1-70 (contained in Addendum). Mrs. Webster then applied for a dependency review provided for in U.C.A. § 35-1-68 (R.30).

A hearing was held before an Administrative Law Judge of the Industrial Commission on June 26, 1985, (See ALJ's Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order in Addendum). The Administrative Law Judge, in an order dated July 2, 1985, held Mrs. Webster to be partially dependent and awarded her \$89.50 per week or \$358.00 per month continuing until otherwise ordered (R. 78-80). A transcript of the proceedings was ordered and an extension for filing a Motion for Review obtained (R. 107-108). The Motion for Review was filed with the Industrial Commission on August 26, 1985, in compliance with the order of the Administrative Law Judge (R. 122-123).

During the pendency of the consideration of the Motion for Review the employer requested the Second Injury Fund to pay benefits beyond the 312 week period to the claimant and survivor of Mr. Webster pursuant to U.C.A. § 35-1-70 (contained in Addendum), which so provides (R. 136). The Second Injury Fund refused (R. 137), and the defendant requested that the Industrial Commission order the Second Injury Fund to comply with U.C.A. § 35-1-70 (R. 138).

In an opinion dated January 9, 1986, the Industrial Commission denied the Motion for Review and affirmed the Administrative Law Judge's determination of partial dependency (R. 139-141). (See Order Denying Motion for Review contained in Addendum.) The Commission also refused to require the Second Injury Fund to pay the benefits beyond the 312 week period.

The appellant's Petition for Review was filed with the Clerk of this Court January 21, 1986 (R. 143-144). The Docketing Statement was filed February 6, 1986.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The facts in this case are not in dispute. After the death of Mrs. Webster's husband in 1982, she received dependency benefits for the equivalent of 312 weeks after the date of the injury of her husband as required by U.C.A. §35-1-68. (Mr. Webster was injured in 1979.)

At the time of the hearing before the administrative law judge, at which time Mrs. Webster requested continued dependency benefits beyond 312 weeks, it was shown that she had on deposit in various savings accounts \$85,504.72 (R. 48, 88). The claimant testified that the total annual interest on this amount was \$8,093.33 (R. 59-60, 80, 90). She additionally testified that she received monthly social security disability payments in the amount of \$493.60 (R. 86) and that her monthly retirement benefit from LDS Hospital was \$120.94 (R. 44, 88). It was shown that in her checking account she had on deposit a balance of \$1,528.87 (R. 91). Her stated yearly income plus cash on hand at the time of the hearing was \$16,996.68. Mrs. Webster's stated yearly

expenses were \$16,024.00 (R. 87), which included an annual estimated clothing expense of \$2,400 (R. 48-49, 87).

However, in September 1985, her yearly mortgage expense of \$2,592.00 was reduced to the annual property tax of \$405.95 due to the fact that the mortgage was paid in full that month, meaning a reduction in annual expense of \$2,187.00 (R. 50-51). Mrs. Webster's monthly mortgage payment prior to payment in full in September 1985 was \$231.00 (R. 50-51). Because Mrs. Webster did not need to make three payments in 1985 her expenses were reduced by \$693.00, reducing the annual stated expenses of Mrs. Webster for 1985 from \$16,024.00 to \$15,331.00. Her financial status for 1985 based on information she provided is summarized as follows:

INCOME SUMMARY

12 months x \$493.60 (Social Security)	\$ 5,923.20
12 months x \$120.94 (Pension)	1,451.28
Interest on Savings of \$85,504.72	8,093.33
Cash on hand (checking account)	<u>1,528.87</u>
TOTAL AVAILABLE INCOME (1985)	\$16,996.68

EXPENSE SUMMARY

Stated estimated expenses	\$16,024.00
less 3 house payments (3 x \$231.00)	<u>693.00</u>
MRS. WEBSTER'S ACTUAL TOTAL EXPENSES (1985)	\$15,331.00

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

U.C.A. § 35-1-68 requires that the dependency review at the end of the 312 week period be based on the applicant's circumstances existing "at the time of the dependency review." Even without taking into account the corpus of the \$85,504.72 in savings that Mrs. Webster had on deposit at the time of the dependency review, her stated interest income and cash on hand, which totaled \$16,996.69, exceeded her yearly stated expenses of \$16,024.00 (R.87). This is true even if no deduction is made for the \$2,400.00 annual clothing expense and monthly \$231.00 mortgage expense which ended in September of 1985 (R.51). Her actual expenses less three \$231.00 mortgage payments was \$15,331.00.

Accordingly, there was more than adequate income to meet Mrs. Webster's stated living expenses in 1985 without taking into account the reduction in expenses as indicated by the payoff of the mortgage and the inordinately high estimated yearly clothing expense of \$2,400.00.

Considering that dependency after the initial 312 week period is to be determined based on the circumstances and conditions at the time of the dependency review, the appellant maintains that the Administrative Law Judge and the Industrial Commission erred when they determined that the claimant was partially dependent. With the reduction of three mortgage payments of \$231.00 each, totalling \$693.00, Mrs. Webster's 1985

estimated annual expenses of \$16,024.00 was reduced to \$15,331.00. This was well within the established annual income of the claimant of \$16,996.68. Even a lower figure of \$15,467.81, arrived at by disallowing the amount of cash on hand evidenced in Mrs. Webster's checking account, still would allow the respondent to spend \$200.00 per month for clothes which she claimed was her accustomed lifestyle.

For 1986, Mrs. Webster's expenses are reduced by 12 payments of \$231.00 each or \$2,772 which, by adding back the property tax obligation of \$405.95, would mean a total annual expense reduction of \$2,366.05 for 1986 for a total expense in 1986 of \$13,657.95.

The appellant maintains that it is painfully clear that even without considering the \$85,504.72 which the claimant had on deposit, her income was sufficient to cover her stated expenses.

The \$85,504.72 the claimant-respondent had in savings should be considered as an asset, and the applicant should also be required to utilize this amount for her expenses. In taking into account this large sum of money, she can hardly be dependent and, in fact, by most standards would be considered affluent.

The self-insured employer should not be forced to build the applicant's estate which is what the Industrial Commission has accomplished by refusing to require the claimant-respondent to utilize any portion of the of the principal of her substantial savings.

To compound the lack of rationality of its decision, the Industrial Commission provided no standard upon which to judge whether the survivor of an employee who has died as a result of an industrial injury is dependent at the time of the dependency review. Rather, the Commission simply stated in its denial of the appellant's motion for review:

The Commission finds this [the award] to be an equitable compromise between the interest of the two parties. (R. 141) (emphasis added)

While compromise may be appropriate in a settlement, it is not a standard upon which to determine whether a decedent's survivor is wholly or partially dependent.

Finally, the appellant maintains that although U.C.A. § 35-1-68 requires initial payment of dependency benefits beyond the 312 week period by the employer upon a finding on continued dependency, reimbursement is contemplated by U.C.A. § 35-1-70, otherwise, this statutory provision is void of any meaning.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE DETERMINATION THAT THE RESPONDENT WEBSTER WAS PARTIALLY DEPENDENT, WAS NOT WITHIN THE LIMITS OF REASONABLENESS OR RATIONALITY, AND THE INDUSTRIAL COMMISSION COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR WHEN IT DID SO.

Decisions of the Industrial Commission regarding workers' compensation when considered on appeal to the Supreme Court must fall within limits of reasonableness or rationality. As stated in Board of Education of Alpine School District v. Olsen, 684 P.2d 49, 51 (Ut. 1984):

The decision below, that Olsen [the claimant] was an employee for purposes of Workers' Compensation is entitled to some deference, but it is subject to judiciary review to assure that it falls within the limits of reasonableness or rationality.

A. Dependency was not determined based on the facts and circumstances at the time of the hearing

Utah law is clear that after a dependent of an employee who has died receives the equivalent of no more than 85% of the state average weekly wage at the time of injury for a period not to exceed six years from the date of the injury (U.C.A. § 35-1-68(2)(b)(i)), that further consideration of dependency after that period is to be based on the operative facts and circumstances at the time of the continued dependency hearing. As stated in U.C.A. § 35-1-68(2)(b)(iii):

The issue of dependency shall be subject to review by the Commission at the end of the initial six-year period and annually thereafter. If at any such review it is determined that, under the facts and circumstances existing at that time, that the applicant is no longer a wholly dependent person, the applicant may be considered a partly dependent or non dependent person and shall be paid such benefits as the Commission may determine pursuant to Subsection (2)(c)(ii). (emphasis added)

That this is the case is reiterated in U.C.A. § 35-1-68(2)(c)(ii) which states:

Benefits to persons determined to be partly dependent pursuant to Subsection (2)(b)(iii) shall be determined by the Commission in keeping with the circumstances and conditions of dependence existing at the time of the dependency review and will be paid in a weekly amount not exceeding the maximum

weekly rate that partly dependent persons would receive if wholly dependent. (emphasis added)

The Administrative Law Judge (hereinafter ALJ) did not follow the requirement of taking into consideration all facts and circumstances that were in existence at the time of the hearing. This is evidenced by his statement made to appellant's counsel at the time of the hearing:

Well, counsel, your point is misplaced. Case law provides that dependency is determined at the time of death. (R. 63)

Presumably, the ALJ's decision, which was affirmed by the Industrial Commission, was based on a misapprehension of the law.

B. The Respondent Webster was not dependent on the workers' Compensation dependency benefits of \$716.00 per month at the date of the earning even without taking into account the principle of \$85,504.72 in savings.

The appellant maintains that the standard which should be applied in determining dependency is whether the survivor of the deceased worker is reliant on the dependency benefits received prior to termination of the 312 week period as necessary to maintain that dependent in his or her accustomed station in life. (See Farnsworth v. Industrial Commission, 534 P.2d 897 (Ut. 1975) contained in Addendum.) In applying this standard to the fact situation, the claimant is not dependent.

The claimant's stated yearly expenses were \$16,024.00. (R.87). However, this figure assumed a continued monthly mortgage payment of \$231.00 which actually ended in September of 1985 (R.

50-51) and an annual clothing expense of \$2,400.00 (R. 48-49, 87). Even so, the claimant had adequate funds without invading the corpus of her \$85,504.72 in savings to cover these expenses. Her stated yearly income for 1985 plus cash on hand as indicated in the most current banking statement (R.91) is summarized as follows:

<u>1985</u>	
12 months x \$493.60	\$5,923.20 12
months x \$120.94	1,451.28
Interest.	8,093.33
Cash on Hand.	1,520.87
<u>TOTAL INCOME</u>	<u>\$16,996.68</u>
Stated Expense	\$16,024.00
Less 3 months of mortgage payments (\$3 x \$231)	\$ 693.00
<u>EXPENSES</u>	<u>\$15,331.00</u>

As can be readily seen, without touching her substantial savings and not allowing for the amortization of the mortgage which occurred in September of 1985 or questioning the credibility of a \$2,400.00 annual clothing expense, the claimant had adequate funds to meet her yearly expenses and maintain her in her accustomed station in life in 1985.

Accordingly, the appellant asserts that the Industrial Commission rendered a decision which was not within the limits of reasonableness or rationality and the Order of the Industrial Commission should be reversed and dependency denied.

POINT II

THE INDUSTRIAL COMMISSION COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR WHEN IT FAILED TO SET OUT ANY STANDARD OR GUIDELINE BY WHICH TO DETERMINE WHETHER THE CLAIMANT AS A SURVIVOR OF A WORKER WHO DIED AS AS RESULT OF AN INDUSTRIAL ACCIDENT WAS PARTIALLY DEPENDENT AFTER THE TERMINATION OF THE 312 WEEK PERIOD.

In Board of Education of Alpine School District v. Olsen, 684 P.2d 49, 51 (Ut. 1984), this Court stated:

In reviewing interpretations of general questions of law, such as the one before us, we apply a correction-of-error standard, with no deference to the expertise of the Industrial Commission.

The Court will search vainly for any sort of standard applied by either the Industrial Commission or the Administrative Law Judge as a test for determining dependency. Instead, the Industrial Commission stated in its denial of the appellant's Motion for Review in the Record at page 141:

As there are no legislative guidelines in this area, the Commission feels that in this particular case the Administrative Law Judge fairly fashioned the award of continued benefits by taking into account the interest income the claimant received from her savings and excluding the corpus. The Commission finds this to be an equitable compromise between the interests of two parties and therefore must deny the defendant's first motion for review.

The term "dependency" is not defined in the Utah Code and there are no Utah cases determining the meaning of "dependency" or "dependent" after the 312 week initial dependency period.

The case of Farnsworth v. Industrial Commission, 534 P.2d 897, 899 (Ut. 1975), defined "dependent" in a case when the worker died very close to the time of the industrial accident as "one who looks to another for support", and that the true criteria of dependency was whether "one has a reasonable expectation of continuing or future support to receive such contributions as are necessary and needed to maintain him in his accustomed station in life."

Therefore, it is necessary to look to at least the claimed expenses of the person claiming dependency and the circumstances at the time of the dependency hearing to determine if the claimant is dependent on the workers' compensation benefits being received at the time of the termination of these benefits. The Industrial Commission failed to analyze the claimant's expenses and her dependency on the workers' compensation benefits. In failing to do this and to apply the previously mentioned standard, i.e. dependency on the workers' compensation benefits, the appellant maintains that the Industrial Commission committed reversible error and entered a "compromise" order (R.141) which is totally beyond what is contemplated in U.C.A. § 35-1-68. Furthermore, the Commission provided no basis for its decision. The weekly compensation figure of \$89.50 seems to have been pulled from thin air with little or no analysis as to respondent's income versus expenses and dependency on the \$716.00 monthly dependency benefit received prior to termination.

POINT III

THE INDUSTRIAL COMMISSION COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR WHEN IT REFUSED TO REQUIRE THE RESPONDENT TO USE THE CORPUS OF HER SAVINGS OF \$85,504.72, AND WHEN IT CONSIDERED ONLY THE INTEREST ON THIS AMOUNT.

In the Administrative Law Judge's Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and Order, he determined as follows:

. . . [T]he Administrative Law Judge finds that the interest earned by a surviving spouse should be included as income, however, the applicant should not be forced to invade the principle or corpus, in order to meet the every day necessities of life. (R.79)

In addition, the Industrial Commission in the Order Denying the Motion for Review filed by the Appellant stated as follows in this regard:

In this case, the issue is narrowed to whether or not a claimant need exhaust all financial resources before a finding of dependency is appropriate. As there are no legislative guidelines in this area, the Commission feels that, in this particular case, the Administrative Law Judge fairly fashioned the award of continued benefits by taking into account the interest income the claimant received from her savings and excluding the corpus. (R.141)

In other words, the Commission held that the claimant was not required to utilize any of the corpus of the \$85,504.72 in savings that she had accumulated. This runs directly contrary to the authorities available on the subject.

99 C.J.S. Workmen's Compensation § 134(2) at page 457 states as follows with regard to the principle that survivors of a workman who has died as a result of an industrial accident are

required to look to their own resources:

. . . [I]t has been held that under particular circumstances one who refrains from the use of resources reasonably available to him for his own support is not dependent on a person who is supporting him. One is not a dependent who has otherwise reasonable support, that is, one cannot be said to be a dependent who has sufficient means at hand for supplying present necessities judging these according to his class and position in life.

This standard seems to be in accordance with the decision in the case of Akin v. Akin Distributors, Inc., 386 P.2d 769 (Okla. 1963), (See Addendum) where the Oklahoma Supreme Court determined that a mother was not dependent on her deceased child when she had an income of \$700.00 per month, received income on leased property in the amount of \$15,000.00 per year, owned stock with an estimated value of \$50,000.00, one Cadillac automobile and eight riding horses.

The Akin case involves a situation where the decedent died immediately following the accident, not a case where there was a three and one-half year delay between the time the injured employee suffered his accident and the date he died with continuing dependency benefits to his spouse after the date he died. Nevertheless, the basic principle is the same, and the claimant should be required to look to available assets. The Oklahoma Supreme Court considered shares of stock an asset not just the dividends. In the instant case, the Industrial Commission entered an order which in the Akin case would have required only the consideration of dividends and not the underlying stock.

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