1986

LDS Hospital v. Industrial Commission of Utah, Second Injury Fund and Anna Webster: Brief of Defendant Anna Webster

Utah Supreme Court

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Industrial Commission followed the mandate of Utah Code Annotated §35-1-68 (1985) and extensively reviewed the issue of dependency. Before determining that Anna F. Webster was partially dependent and reducing her benefits from \$716.00 to \$358.00 per month, the Industrial Commission through the Administrative Law Judge carefully reviewed all relevant facts. The Industrial Commission examined Anna F. Webster's monthly income which was \$1,315.00, more than one-half of which was the dependency benefits. In addition, the Commission examined her monthly expenses which totaled approximately \$1,300.00.

In fashioning a fair and reasonable remedy, the Commission was fully aware of the fact that Anna F. Webster would no longer have a mortgage on her home as of September, 1985 and accordingly would no longer have that monthly expense. Additionally, the Commission also held that interest earned by Anna F. Webster's savings should be considered income. Nevertheless, the Indus-

trial Commission, after all of the evidence was considered, affirmed a finding of partial dependency but decreased the monthly amount by half.

This Court should apply two standards in reviewing the Commission's Order. First, in reviewing questions of law, it must apply the "correction of error" standard. It is submitted that the Commission committed no reversible error in the manner in which it applied the law.

Second, in reviewing the Commission's findings, it must apply an "arbitrary and capricious" standard. Again, it is submitted that the Commission committed no reversible error. The findings of the Commission are supported by competent evidence and are not arbitrary and capricious. The Commission considered all of the evidence at the time of the dependency review.

The Commission utilized the proper standards and guidelines to promote the purpose of the Utah Workers' Compensation Act and to comply with the applicable general rules of law. By applying these standards and guidelines the Commission properly concluded that Anna F. Webster need not use her savings (principal) to relieve Plaintiff of its statutory obligation to pay her as the widow of a deceased former employee.

Anna F. Webster has demonstrated her dependency by competent evidence and therefore is entitled to have the Order awarding her partial dependency benefits affirmed.

ARGUMENT

I

THE INDUSTRIAL COMMISSION DID NOT ERR IN
FINDING THAT ANNA F. WEBSTER IS PARTIALLY DEPENDENT

This Court has established certain standards when reviewing orders of the Industrial Commission. If this Court is reviewing the Commission's interpretation of general questions of law, it applies a "correction-of-error" standard, with no deference given to the Commission's interpretation. Dean Evans Chrysler Plymouth v. Morse, Utah, 692 P.2d 779, 782 (1984). This standard requires this Court to determine whether the Commission has complied with the guidelines of the law. Utah Department of Administrative Services v. Public Service Commission, Utah, 658 P.2d 601, 608 (1983).

If this Court is reviewing the Commission's Findings of Fact, it applies an "arbitrary and capricious" standard. Blaine v. Industrial Commission of Utah, Utah, 700 P.2d 1084, 1086 (1985). This standard requires that the Commission's findings are not to be displaced in the absence of a showing that they are arbitrary and capricious. Id.

The issue of dependency must be determined based upon the facts and circumstances at the time of review as provided in Utah Code Annotated, §35-1-68(2)(b)(iii) (1985). That section provides as follows:

The issue of dependency shall be subject to review by the commission at the end of the initial six-year period and annually thereafter. If in any such review it is determined that, under the facts and circumstances existing at that time, the applicant is no longer a wholly dependent person, the applicant may be considered a partly dependent or nondependent person and shall be paid such benefits as the commission may determine pursuant to Subsection (2)(c)(ii).

Section 35-1-68(2)(c)(ii) also provides that the issue of partial dependency "shall be determined by the Commission in keeping with the circumstances and conditions of dependence existing at the time of the dependency review."

Plaintiff unconvincingly argues that the Commission did not follow the statutory guidelines "of taking into consideration all facts and circumstances" at the time of the dependency review. Plaintiff's brief, p. 10. To support this argument, Plaintiff cites a statement made by the Administrative Law Judge. The weakness of this argument is exposed by even a cursory examination of the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law entered on July 2, 1985. The Administrative Law Judge took into consideration Anna F. Webster's current income, including interest earned by her savings [Tr. 79]. The Administrative Law Judge also considered Anna Webster's current monthly expenses [Tr. 79 and 140]. And, the Administrative Law Judge further noted that such expenses included the mortgage payments on her home which would terminate in September, 1985 and, accordingly, would no longer be a monthly expense. Tr. 79.

Based upon the specific facts which the Administrative Law Judge considered at the time of the dependency review, it is submitted that the Administrative Law Judge complied with the mandates of the statute. It is further submitted that the findings of the Administrative Law Judge were neither arbitrary nor capricious because there is unquestionably a reasonable basis to support such findings.

II

ANNA F. WEBSTER WAS DEPENDENT UPON THE
CONTINUED PAYMENT OF WORKERS' COMPENSATION
BENEFITS AT THE TIME OF THE DEPENDENCY REVIEW

At the time of the dependency review, Anna F. Webster was receiving \$716.00 in Workers' Compensation benefits. These benefits constituted over one-half of her monthly income [Tr. 79]. Mrs. Webster's dependency upon such benefits is convincingly demonstrated by the fact that she was forced to invade her life savings when Plaintiff terminated her benefits [Tr. 79].

The standard to establish dependency under the Utah Workers' Compensation Act, which Appellant broadly paraphrases in its brief at page 10, was set forth by this Court in Farnsworth v. Industrial Commission, Utah, 534 P.2d 897 (1975). This Court stated:

[T]hat dependency within the terms of the statute does not mean absolute dependency for the necessities of life, but rather that the applicant looked to and relied on the contributions of the workman, in whole or in part, as a means of supporting and maintaining himself in accordance with his social position and accustomed mode of life. Id. at 899.

This standard has been utilized by this Court in numerous decisions. Park Utah Consolidated Mines Co. v. Industrial Commission, Utah, 36 P.2d 979 (1934). Star v. Industrial Commission, Utah, 615 P.2d 436 (1980).

Plaintiff attempts to cloud this issue by demonstrating its prowess at arithmetic. Plaintiff's brief, p. 5. Nonetheless, the undisputable fact is that, at the time of the dependency

review, the compensation benefits constituted more than one-half of her montly income [Tr. 79]. Despite this fact, Plaintiff suggests that Mrs. Webster is not dependent upon such benefits to maintain herself in accordance with her social position and accustomed mode of life.

It is respectfully suggested that the Commission is not obligated to consider an alternative social position and mode of life for Mrs. Webster. The fundamental goal of Workers' Compensation is to compensate widows for the income lost when their spouses are killed at work so that they can maintain the social position she and her husband had acquired at the time of his death.

Accordingly, it is submitted that Mrs. Webster demonstrated her continued but partial dependency and that the Commission fashioned a fair and reasonable remedy to further the purpose of the Workers' Compensation Act. Hence, this Court should affirm the final and administrative decision of the Commission.

III

THE INDUSTRIAL COMMISSION APPLIED THE
PROPER STANDARDS AND FOLLOWED PROPER
GUIDELINES IN DETERMINING THAT ANNA F.
WEBSTER WAS PARTIALLY DEPENDENT

Utah Code Annotated, §35-1-68(2)(b)(iii) (1985) empowers the Industrial Commission to review the issue of dependency. The Commission is required by that section to consider facts and circumstances existing at the time of review to determine whether an applicant is a "wholly dependent person". If not, the applicant may be considered partially dependent and shall be paid such

benefits as the Commission may determine pursuant to §35-1-68(2)(c)(ii) (1985).

Such payment shall be based upon the circumstances and conditions at the time of the dependency review and will be paid in a weekly amount not exceeding the maximum weekly rate that a partially dependent would receive if wholly dependent. Utah Code Annotated, §35-1-68(2)(c)(ii) (1985).

Applying the foregoing statutory guidelines to the instant case, it becomes evident that the Commission did apply the proper standards and guidelines.

The findings adopted by the Commission refer to Anna F. Webster's monthly income and expenses at the time of the dependency review. In addition, the findings acknowledge the fact that her mortgage payment would end in September, 1985. Based upon the facts and upon all other evidence, the Administrative Law Judge concluded that she was partially dependent.

Section 35-1-68(2)(b)(iii) (1985) accords the Commission the discretion to determine that an applicant may be partially dependent. Section 35-1-68(2)(c)(ii) (1985) then empowers the Commission to award benefits, the amount of which shall not exceed a stated limit.

Accordingly, this Court must conclude that the Commission acted arbitrarily and capriciously before the Commissioners' Order can be reversed. There is, however, no evidence that the Commission acted in such a manner. In fact, the Commissioners' and the Administrative Law Judge's Order contradict such a conclusion. The Administrative Law Judge considered all relevant

facts and circumstances and the Commission found that the Administrative Law Judge fashioned a fair remedy considering not only Anna Webster's interest but also Plaintiff's interest. Such a decision cannot be considered arbitrary or capricious. Therefore, the Commisioners' Order should be affirmed.

IV

THE INDUSTRIAL COMMISSION DID NOT
ERR WHEN IT REFUSED TO REQUIRE ANNA F.
WEBSTER TO USE HER SAVINGS

Professor Larson has stated the general rule in cases involving the issue of partial dependency and a claimant who has other sources of support:

Partial dependency may be found when, although the claimant may have other substantial sources of support from his own work, from property, or from other persons on whom claimant is also dependent, the contributions made by the decedent were looked to by the claimant for the maintenance of his accustomed standard of living. 2 Larson, Workmen's Compensation Law, §63.12(a) (1983).

Plaintiff in its argument has failed to grasp the fundamental purpose of the Utah Workers' Compensation Act. Plaintiff assumes that since Mrs. Webster has managed to save some money she is not entitled to any benefits. This assumption, however, is in conflict with the general rule espoused by Professor Larson and with the purpose inherent in the Utah Workers' Compensation Act.

Professor Larson concludes that the Court must look at whether the decedent's contributions to Anna F. Webster were used to maintain her accustomed standard of living. The evidence establishes at the time of the dependency review that the bene-

fits received by Anna F. Webster constituted more than one-half of her monthly income. This clearly establishes that Anna F. Webster looked to contributions made by her deceased husband for the maintenance of her accustomed standard of living.

The purpose of the Utah Workers' Compensation Act has been defined by this Court as follows:

[The purpose] is to provide compensation for the probable financial loss suffered by dependents on account of the death of the decedent. Farnsworth, supra, 534 P.2d at 900; Star, supra, 615 P.2d at 439.

In an effort to escape the above quoted general rule and the stated purpose of the Utah Workers' Compensation Act, Plaintiff cites two clearly distinguishable cases from other jurisdictions. The first is Akin v. Akin Distributors, Inc., Okla., 386 P.2d 769 (1963). In that case, the claimant failed to produce sufficient evidence that she was dependent upon her son within the meaning of the Oklahoma Workers' Compensation Act. The evidence in that case did establish that claimant earned a substantial income, in addition to owning valuable stock. Her deceased son merely contributed \$50.00 per month. Under that set of facts, the Court was required to affirm the conclusion that the claimant was not dependent. The Court refused to disturb a finding which was supported by competent evidence. Id. at 772.

In the present case, the Commissioners' Order finding Anna F. Webster partially dependent and, accordingly, reducing her monthly benefits from \$716.00 per month to \$358.00 per month is also supported by competent evidence. That Order was based

after all material facts and circumstances were carefully, and fairly, considered by the Commission.

The second case cited by Plaintiff is Terrinoni v. Westward Ho!, Fla., 418 So.2d 1143 (1982). In that case the Florida Court was struggling with a Florida statute which is substantially different from the Utah Workers' Compensation Act. Claimant had received a substantial sum of benefits from a combination of sources. The Florida Court held that the Florida statute and Florida case law supported the conclusion that there comes a time when dependency benefits may be terminated.

Utah statute also provides for a termination of such benefits. §35-1-68(2)(b)(iii) mandates that the issue of dependency shall be reviewed after the initial six-year period and annually thereafter. Therefore, if the Commission finds, based upon the facts and circumstances at the time of such review, that a claimant is no longer dependent, then benefits can be terminated.

In the instant case, however, the Commission concluded that Mrs. Webster is no longer wholly dependent but is partially dependent. Therefore, it reduced her dependency benefits by fifty percent (50%) from \$716.00 to \$358.00 per month. It has not been demonstrated that the Commission's Order is not supported by competent evidence; therefore, it should be affirmed.

V

THE INDUSTRIAL COMMISSION DID NOT ERR BY FAILING
TO HOLD OR TAKE JUDICIAL NOTICE OF THE FACT THAT
ANNA F. WEBSTER'S CLOTHING EXPENSE WAS EXCESSIVE

As has been amply demonstrated herein, the purpose of dependency benefits is to afford the claimant the ability to maintain her standard of living. The Administrative Law Judge and the Industrial Commission carefully reviewed all the evidence which was submitted, including Mrs. Webster's clothing expense. Obviously the Commission's collective conscience was not shocked by that expense. It is submitted that Plaintiff's conscience is insufficient reason to reverse a proper Order.

VI

ANNA F. WEBSTER IS ENTITLED TO RECEIVE THE
ADDITIONAL BENEFITS AS AWARDED BY THE
INDUSTRIAL COMMISSION REGARDLESS OF WHO
THIS COURT FEELS SHOULD PAY SUCH BENEFITS

Plaintiff has raised an argument that pursuant to Utah Code Annotated §35-1-70 (1953), it should not be required to pay extended dependency benefits to Mrs. Webster. It is Plaintiff's position that the payment of such benefits are the responsibility of the Second Injury Fund.

It is the position of Anna F. Webster that she has clearly demonstrated her entitlement to additional dependency benefits. Her entitlement is not affected by this argument. Therefore, Mrs. Webster respectfully requests that this Court decide who should pay her the benefits.